FILED 05-27-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

No. 2024AP469-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ANDREAS W. RAUCH SHARAK,

 $Defendant\hbox{-}Appellant.$

On Certification

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Jefferson County The Honorable Judge William F. Hue Presiding Case No. 2022CF495

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BRADLEY W. NOVRESKE

State Bar No. 1106967

 $Attorney\ for\ Defendant\text{-}Appellant$

NOVRESKE LAW OFFICE, LLC

13422 W. Prospect Pl. New Berlin, WI 53151 (414) 502-7558 brad@novreskelaw.com

INTRODUCTION

This case, as well as *State v. Gasper*, Case No. 2023AP2319-CR, 2024 WI App. 72, 414 Wis.2d 532, 16 N.W.3d 279, presents this Court with a complex Fourth Amendment issue of first impression in Wisconsin. These cases address a common fact pattern that proceeds along one of four possible paths:



- 1. A user creates an account on an app, social media platform, email provider, or similar website (often referred to as Electronic Service Providers (ESPs) or Interactive Computer Services (ICSs)) accepting the ESP's Terms of Service (Terms) often without reading them, and then uploads, stores, or transmits data or communications over the ESP's platform.
- 2. The ESP, using proprietary software, scans the contents of all data and communications uploaded, stored, or transmitted over the platform, calculating "hash values" for image and video contents. The ESP then compares those hash values to databases of hash values maintained by the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) which contain hash values of images and videos that have previously been categorized as child sexual abuse materials (CSAM), also referred to as child pornography (CP).
- 3. Anytime a user's data and communications is scanned and flagged as a match to a hash value in one of NCMEC's databases, the ESP is required by federal law to submit specific details about the data, the user, and subscriber details to NCMEC in a report called a CyberTipline Report (CyberTip). The suspected files are always attached to the CyberTip.
 - a. Sometimes, but not always, a human employee or contractor of the ESP opens and views the file(s) to verify that the contents appear to be CSAM.
 - b. Often, the ESP creates and submits the CyberTip to NCMEC without any human ever viewing the files.

- 4. Once NCMEC receives a CyberTip, an analyst compiles additional information about the user/subscriber based on the information provided by the ESP. This includes approximate geolocation data for the IP address(es), the Internet Service Provider that issued the IP address to the user, and an internal check for any prior CyberTips that might be associated with the current CyberTip based on IP address, email address, phone number, user name, or other biographical data provided by the ESP. This information is compiled into sections of the CyberTip.
 - a. Sometimes, but not always, a human employee of NCMEC opens and views the file(s) to verify that the contents appear to be CSAM.
 - b. Often, particularly where no human review was done by the ESP, NCMEC will compile the CyberTip without any human ever viewing the files. This was the case in *Gasper*.
- 5. NCMEC is then required by federal law to transmit the CyberTip and its attachments to the local law enforcement agency (often, but not always, WIDOJ's Department of Criminal Investigation in Wisconsin) believed to have jurisdiction based on the geolocation of the IP address used.
- 6. Local law enforcement receives the CyberTip and opens and views the attached files without a warrant. When WIDOJ is the agency that receives the CyberTip, a "designee" opens and views the attachments and issues an administrative subpoena to the Internet Service Provider that owns the IP address identified in the CyberTip for subscriber data for that IP address. The CyberTip is then forwarded to the county or municipal police department with jurisdiction over the address provided by the Internet Service Provider.
- 7. A search warrant is subsequently sought by the county or municipal police department for the suspect's home and electronic devices based on the contents of the CyberTip and any additional investigation conducted by local law enforcement prior to seeking a warrant.

This recurring fact pattern raises several important questions that are not settled, some of which are presented to the Court by Rauch Sharak and Gasper based on the path that applies to each case:

- Does a user of an ESP's platform have a reasonable expectation of privacy visà-vis the government regardless of the ESP's Terms?
- If no, what must the Terms Service contain to effectuate a knowing and voluntary relinquishment of the expectation of privacy for the user's data and communications over the ESP's platform vis-à-vis the government?
- Assuming a reasonable expectation of privacy, does an ESP perform a search as understood by the Fourth Amendment by relying on proprietary software to scan and calculate hash values for all user data and communications on the platform? Does an ESP perform a search when a human employee or contractor opens and views the contents of the data or communications? Is there a difference in scope between the two searches?

Filed 05-27-2025

- Under this Court's precedent in State v. Payano-Roman, 2006 WI 47, 290 Wis.2d 380, 714 N.W.2d 548, is the ESP's search (whether hash-only or viewed by a human) considered government action given the encouragement and participation of the government in performing the searches?
- If no, is NCMEC acting as an agent or instrumentality of the government or otherwise performing a "government function" when acting in its congressionally mandated role as the national clearinghouse for the investigation and identification of CSAM?
- If no human employee of the ESP views the file(s) and no human analyst of NCMEC views the file(s), can local law enforcement open and view the files without a warrant under the private search doctrine based only on the ESP's use of hashmatching? (Path 4 applicable to *Gasper*)
- To what extent can the Government circumvent the protections of the Fourth Amendment by outsourcing its investigation and surveillance to private-sector entities, allowing the government access to second-by-second intimate personal data about any individual that would be impossible to obtain through traditional policing methods?
- Assuming a Fourth Amendment violation, is suppression an appropriate remedy?

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did Mr. Rauch Sharak have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his data and communications in his Google Photos account?
- 2. Did the trial court incorrectly apply the appropriate legal standard when it explicitly acknowledged that under the controlling precedent, Rogers, as adopted by Payano-Roman, Mr. Rauch Sharak proved that Google's actions were a government search for Fourth Amendment purposes, but rejected that precedent in favor of a totality of the circumstances multifactor balancing test not supported by any authority?
- 3. Did Mr. Rauch Sharak prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Google searched the contents of his electronic data and communications as an agent or instrumentality of the government?
- 4. Should the evidence obtained through Google's search and any derivative evidence be suppressed?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Mr. Rauch Sharak had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his data and communications while using the Google platform. Google's Terms did not extinguish Mr. Rauch Sharak's reasonable expectation of privacy vis-à-vis the government. This case turns on whether Google was acting as an agent or instrumentality of the government when it searched Mr. Rauch Sharak's electronic communications and data. If Google's search was government action for Fourth Amendment purposes, Mr. Rauch Sharak is entitled to suppression of the evidence discovered by Google. If the search was merely a "private search," Mr. Rauch Sharak would not be entitled to suppression. Three requirements must be met for a search to be considered a "private search." These three requirements were identified in Rogers, 148 Wis.2d 243, and adopted as the controlling analysis by this Court in Payano-Roman, 2006 WI 47.

All three requirements must be met before a court can conclude that a challenged search was a "private search" not subject to the Fourth Amendment. In this case, the trial court held that Mr. Rauch Sharak disproved the first of the three requirements. The trial court further held that Mr. Rauch Sharak met his burden of proof establishing that Google was acting as an agent or instrumentality of the government under Rogers and Payano-Roman because all three requirements for the search to be a "private search" could not be met once Mr. Rauch Sharak disproved the first requirement.

However, discontent with that result, the trial court explicitly rejected Payano-Roman's clear holding that all three Rogers requirements must be met for a search to be a "private search." The trial court instead substituted its own totality of the circumstances, multifactor balancing test, asserting that Payano-Roman's analysis seemed counterintuitive. The trial court held that Google's search was a "private search" despite not meeting all three Rogers requirements and denied Mr. Rauch Sharak's motion. Nevertheless, to prevent the need for a remand should the Court of Appeals disagree with the trial court's abandonment of the clear holding in *Payano-Roman*, the trial court made findings as it relates to suppression and ultimately held that suppression was necessary if the Court of Appeals (or this Court) decides that Google acted an agent or instrumentality of the government for purposes of the search.

The trial court went rogue. It rejected the clear, unequivocal rule announced by *Payano-Roman*, a case which has been the controlling precedent on the private search doctrine in Wisconsin for nearly 20 years. The court acknowledged that *Rogers* and *Payano-Roman* required the court to conclude that Google's search was government action for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and explicitly rejected that result and substituted its own analysis to reach the opposite conclusion.

Unlike the not-infrequent scenario in which a trial court mistakenly applies the wrong legal standard or omits a critical step in its analysis, in this case the trial court performed the correct analysis, reached the correct conclusion under that analysis, and explicitly rejected that result. It opted to create its own test divorced from the requirements imposed by *Payano-Roman*. There was no mistake, no inadvertence, and no confusion. It was the wholesale rejection of controlling Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent. The trial court held that Mr. Rauch Sharak met his burden of proof under the controlling legal standard. The trial court held that suppression was the appropriate remedy. Mr. Rauch Sharak respectfully asks this court to reverse the trial court insofar as its analysis went beyond those two holdings and order the suppression of any evidence discovered by Google or derived therefrom.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background.

The facts are undisputed. Google, an Electronic Services Provider¹ ("ESP"), proactively scans all content uploaded to or transmitted through Google services by a subscriber or user. This process is done automatically using proprietary software such as MD5 hashing (which is used in virtually every case often in conjunction with a second software) and PhotoDNA, which was developed by Microsoft and made available to ESPs and the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children ("NCMEC"). Unlike MD5 hashing, PhotoDNA tries to identify photos that are visually highly similar to previously identified images classified as CSAM despite the photos not being identical at the bit level such that there would be matching MD5 hash values. Similar proprietary software has been developed by Google and YouTube to perform the same function as PhotoDNA. ESPs use one or several of these options to automatically scan the electronic data and communications of the ESP's users, calculate a cryptographic hash value of any uploaded files, and compare each file's hash value to a database of hash values associated with previously identified child sexual abuse materials ("CSAM") maintained and distributed to ESPs by NCMEC.

If a match is found, the ESP is mandated by federal law to submit a report to NCMEC providing detailed information about the individual who uploaded or received the content. Attached to each report are the actual files which were uploaded or transmitted. Often, but not always, a staff member of the ESP views the files prior to submitting them to NCMEC to confirm that the images contain suspected CSAM. Often, but not always, a staff member at NCMEC

_

[&]quot;Electronics Service Provider is a broad, catchall term for providers of interactive computer services as defined by Section 230. The term "interactive computer service" means any information service, system, or access software provider that provides or enables computer access by multiple users to a computer server, including specifically a service or system that provides access to the Internet and such systems operated or services offered by libraries or educational institutions. Internet Service Providers (ISPs) are one type of ESP.

views the files attached to the report. Ultimately, NCMEC gathers additional information about the user and transmits the report and attachments to local law enforcement in the jurisdiction in which the user is believed to reside. Upon receiving the report, law enforcement reviews the report and views the attached files.

In this case, on August 17, 2021, Google submitted a CyberTipline Report ("CyberTip") to NCMEC indicating that suspected CSAM had been uploaded to Google. (R36/1; A-App. 1). The CyberTip indicated that four specific files containing suspected CSAM had been identified. (Id.). The CyberTip indicated that "A person at Google viewed the file to the extent necessary to confirm that it contained apparent child pornography concurrently to or immediately preceding the sending of the CyberTip." (Id.). The CyberTip included the names of the files uploaded as well as the IP addresses associated with the uploads. (Id.). It also included a "geo lookup" for the IP addresses associated with the uploads which indicated that the ISP was maintained by Spectrum (formerly Charter) and U.S. cellular. (*Id.*).

On August 17, 2021, NCMEC staff downloaded and viewed the suspected CSAM files attached to the CyberTip and compiled additional geolocation and subscriber data. The CyberTip was then forwarded to WIDOJ on September 15, 2021. On October 28, 2021, Policy Analyst McCarty opened and viewed the attachments to the CyberTip without a warrant. On November 1, 2021, the Office of the Wisconsin Attorney General issued an administrative subpoena to Charter Communications, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 165.505. (Id.). The subpoena requested that Charter provide the name(s) and address(es) of the customer(s) and/or subscriber(s) associated with the IP addresses listed in the CyberTip. (Id. at 2; A-App. 2). Charter provided the name of the subscriber and the address associated with the IP addresses. (Id.). The case was then referred to the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office for investigation. (Id.). Det. McIntyre of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office opened the files attached to the CyberTip without a warrant and viewed them. (*Id.*).

After reviewing the files, Det. McIntyre applied for a search warrant. (*Id.*). A warrant was obtained for the residence, authorizing the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office to seize any digital devices located at the residence and authorized their search and analysis. A Samsung Galaxy S7 was seized, belonging to Mr. Rauch Sharak. Det. McIntyre reviewed 15 files located on that phone and determined that they contained child pornography. (*Id.*).

II. Procedural History.

Mr. Rauch Sharak was charged on November 14, 2022 with 15 counts of possession of child pornography contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). (R2; A-App. 34). On July 6, 2023, Mr. Rauch Sharak filed a motion to suppress evidence obtained after Google searched his digital files and communications, the subsequent warrantless search of those files by NCMEC, and finally the warrantless search of those files by Det. McIntyre. (R25; A-App. 43). Mr. Rauch Sharak argued that Google was an agent or instrumentality of the government for purposes of the search because Google is functionally compelled to carry out the search by the interplay between several federal regulatory regimes: the Protect Our Children Act, § 230 of the Communications Decency Act ("Section 230"), and the allow States and Victims to Fight Online Trafficking Act of 2017 ("FOSTA"). (R36/11; A-App. 11).

The State argued that Mr. Rauch Sharak did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his electronic communications and data uploaded to Google because the uploaded content violated Google's terms and services. The trial court held that Mr. Rauch Sharak had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his electronic communications and data uploaded to Google, and that Google's Terms did not diminish Mr. Rauch Sharak's expectations of privacy. (*Id.* at 5; A-App. 5).

The trial court made several findings of fact as they relate to the regulations relevant to the inquiry. The court found that these regulations (1) developed in response to congressional dissatisfaction with ESPs not being willing sufficiently in the opinion of Congress to engage in any form of content

moderation and especially not willing to do so through affirmative efforts, perhaps, as articulated by Congress, out of fear of liability; (2) were intended to specifically shield ESPs from liability if they choose to engage in moderating activities; (3) specifically defined the type of content that was being targeted – "materials that the provider or user considers to be obscene, lewd, lascivious, filthy, excessively violent, harassing or otherwise objectionable;" (4) specifically shielded ESPs from liability for targeting this type of content "whether or not such material is constitutionally protected;" (5) limited the scope of Section 230 immunity for ESPs that published content promoting or facilitating prostitution and sex trafficking creating liability for ESPs that do not affirmatively search out and remove such content; (6) expanded the definition of human trafficking under the Trafficking Victims' Protection Act ("TVPA") to more explicitly cover ESPs that "benefit from participation in a venture which has engaged in sex trafficking," which did not necessarily require knowledge of the content or direct participation in its creation in order to be found to be criminally liable under that law; and (7) were introduced explicitly to remove what lawmakers believed to be federal impediments on local law enforcement actions against ESPs. (Id. at 11-13; A-App. 11-13).

The trial court also found that Google, as an ESP, is required by federal law to provide information to the CyberTipline maintained by NCMEC regarding any apparent violations of federal statutes criminalizing acts related to sexual exploitation of children and/or child pornography if Google obtains actual knowledge of facts or circumstances regarding such violations. (Id. at 13; A-App. 13). Regarding NCMEC, the court found that NCMEC is federally mandated to maintain and operate the CyberTipline as a clearinghouse for the collection of reports of child sexual exploitation, and that NCMEC is statutorily required to make CyberTipline Reports generated by ESPs and compiled by NCMEC available to federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies. (*Id.*).

Considering the three requirements identified in Rogers as adopted by Payano-Roman which must be met for the court to conclude a search was

private, the court first held that law enforcement encouraged and participated in Google's search. The court found that Google's search would not be possible without access to NCMEC's hash lists, and that Google utilizes these hash lists in its search and then reports the results from those searches to NCMEC, which then makes the results available to law enforcement. As such, the court found that law enforcement was participatory in the search and government regulations/statutes certainly encouraged the search. (R36/15-16; A-App. 15-16).

Considering the second requirement, the court held that Google's search was based on private, non-law enforcement ends based on the immunity provided through engaging in the proactive screening, flagging, and reporting to NCMEC, as Google had the option to make a business decision as to whether that endeavor when weighed against potential legal liability is worthwhile. (Id. at 16).

Considering the third requirement, the court held that Google's decision to search was motivated by a desire to achieve protection (by regulation granted immunity) from civil and criminal liability and that those concerns are legitimate business purposes separate and distinct from governmental efforts, "which admittedly is a natural consequence of the decision to scan." (*Id.* at 16-17; A-App. 16-17).

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