Filed 06-13-2025

Page 1 of 49

FILED 06-13-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2024AP469-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREAS W. RAUCH SHARAK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON CERTIFICATION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS FROM DEFENDANT'S APPEAL OF A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN JEFFERSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM F. HUE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the order denying suppression for two reasons.

First, Rauch Sharak lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the CSAM files because Google's Terms of Service deprived him of the right to exclude and other rights intrinsic to an expectation of privacy with respect to CSAM. The Terms required Rauch Sharak to agree to Google's prohibition on CSAM, consent to Google's monitoring of his account for CSAM, and accept that Google would act on CSAM, which included reporting to NCMEC. Rauch Sharak cannot establish an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the CSAM files that the detective viewed after Google removed and reported them pursuant to the Terms. Similarly, even if Google acted as a government agent, Google did not intrude upon a reasonable expectation of privacy when it scanned Rauch Sharak's account because Rauch Sharak consented to monitoring by a government agent by agreeing to the Terms. Contrary to the Certification's concern, this result is consistent with other cases that have used property law to evaluate the reasonableness of an expectation of privacy. Rauch Sharak created a bailment with Google by uploading files to his account. Since bailments are governed Terms of Service bv contract. Google's inform the reasonableness of Rauch Sharak's claim of privacy.

Second, Google acted as a private party when it searched Rauch Sharak's account. Twenty courts have already rejected Rauch Sharak's contrary argument. He nevertheless asks this Court to become a conspicuous outlier based on his theory that a web of federal statutes implicitly encouraged Google to search for CSAM. However, he fails to acknowledge that federal law specifically tells ESPs that they have no duty to search for CSAM. Rauch Sharak cannot reconcile his theory of implicit encouragement with this explicit disclaimer, nor does he attempt to. Instead, he claims that the circuit court was bound to apply a strict three-factor test rather than evaluate the totality of the circumstances. This Court's precedent, however, unambiguously directs courts to consider the totality of the circumstances.

This Court can affirm the order denying suppression for either of these two reasons. Because Rauch Sharak cannot prove a reasonable expectation of privacy, no Fourth Amendment search occurred, and it is immaterial whether Google acted as a government agent. Alternatively, even if Rauch Sharak had a reasonable expectation of privacy, he failed to prove that Google acted as a government agent. Because Rauch Sharak does not challenge the circuit court's application of the private-search doctrine to the detective's viewing of the CSAM files, his failure to establish that Google acted as a government agent ends the analysis. The State encourages this Court to address both issues anyway because they recur in CSAM prosecutions.

Finally, even if Rauch Sharak suffered a Fourth Amendment violation, the exclusionary rule should not apply.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a suppression order, this Court accepts the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous and "independently appl[ies] constitutional principles to those facts." *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120 (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. Rauch Sharak lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the four flagged CSAM files.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Bruski*, 2007 WI 25, ¶ 20, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 727 N.W.2d 503 (alteration in original). To challenge a search, a defendant must establish a reasonable expectation of privacy in the area searched. *Id.* ¶¶ 22–23. Rauch Sharak failed to prove that he had an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the four CSAM videos. A. Rauch Sharak lacked an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the CSAM files viewed by the detective because Google's Terms deprived him of the right to exclude with respect to CSAM.

This Court has identified the following, non-exclusive factors to help determine the reasonableness of an expectation of privacy:

(1) whether the accused had a property interest in the premises; (2) whether the accused is legitimately (lawfully) on the premises; (3) whether the accused had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others; (4) whether the accused took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) whether the property was put to some private use; [and] (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

Bruski, 299 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 24 (citation omitted).

These factors invoke property law concepts. The first two factors expressly refer to an individual's property interests. The third factor invokes fundamental concepts of property law. The "right to exclude others" is "universally held to be a fundamental element of the property right." *Cedar Point Nursery v. Hassid*, 594 U.S. 139, 150 (2021) (citation omitted). "[D]ominion and control" are synonymous with the right to exclude as their "very essence . . . includes the right to exclude others." *State v. Wisumierski*, 106 Wis. 2d 722, 737, 317 N.W.2d 484 (1982). The fourth and fifth factors ask whether the individual took actions consistent with exercising the right to exclude.

Thus, "property rights alone, although not controlling, are relevant" to determining an individual's expectation of privacy. *State v. Rewolinski*, 159 Wis. 2d 1, 18, 464 N.W.2d 401 (1990) (citing *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978)). The U.S. Supreme Court has more recently reiterated that "[l]egitimation of expectations of privacy by law must have a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society." *Byrd v. United States*, 584 U.S. 395, 405 (2018) (alteration in original) (quoting *Rakas*, 439 U.S. at 144 n.12.) *Byrd* identified the right to exclude as one of these important sources of privacy: "One of the main rights attaching to property is the right to exclude others,' and, in the main, 'one who owns or lawfully possesses or controls property will in all likelihood have a legitimate expectation of privacy by virtue of the right to exclude." *Id.* (quoting *Rakas*, 439 U.S. at 144 n.12.)

Generally, a user has a reasonable expectation of privacy in an ESP account because it is a digital "container used to store personal documents and effects." State v. Bowers, 2023 WI App 4, ¶ 26, 405 Wis. 2d 716, 985 N.W.2d 123. Gasper correctly recognized that this expectation of privacy does not necessarily extend to individual files viewed outside the account. The court correctly concluded that defendant Gasper lacked an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in a CSAM video that a detective viewed outside of Gasper's account after Snapchat reported it pursuant to its policies. Gasper, 414 Wis. 2d 532, ¶¶ 16, 22, 28.

Three of Snapchat's user policies animated Gasper's ruling. First, Snapchat's Terms of Service informed users that they could not use their accounts for unlawful purposes, and that Snapchat "reserve[s] the right" to remove and report content that violates Snapchat's content policies or the law. Id. ¶ 17 (alteration in original). Second, the Snapchat Community Guidelines expressly prohibited all content involving sexually explicit content with a minor and informed users that Snapchat reports such content to law enforcement. Id. ¶ 18. Third, the Sexual Content Explainer reiterated Snapchat's prohibition on CSAM and stated that Snapchat reports all CSAM to NCMEC. *Id.* ¶ 19. Given these policies, any subjective expectation of privacy would have been "objectively unreasonable." *Id.* ¶ 22.

Snapchat's terms deprived Gasper of the property interests underlying the *Bruski* factors. Snapchat's terms "limited Gasper's property interest in his account which prohibited him from saving, sharing, or uploading child pornography." *Gasper*, 414 Wis. 2d 532, ¶ 22. The terms limited Gasper's right to exclude, dominion, and control because they allowed Snapchat to monitor and access Gasper's account for CSAM. *Id.* ¶ 23. Snapchat's policies barred Gasper from taking precautions consistent with a privacy interest to secure CSAM. *Id.* ¶ 24. Rather, Snapchat retained the right to circumvent those precautions to remove and report CSAM. *See id.* At bottom, "Gasper could not exclude Snapchat from his account when it came to child pornography." *Id.* ¶ 23.

Although the factual basis for *Gasper*'s holding arises from Snapchat's user policies, the legal conclusion rests on how those policies restricted Gasper's right to exclude. A property-law analogue for the relationship between an individual user and an ESP confirms the soundness of *Gasper*'s holding. *See Byrd*, 584 U.S. at 404 (stating that "[r]eference to property concepts ... aids the Court" in deciding the reasonable expectation of privacy question). The relationship between an individual user and an ESP is akin to a bailment. Snapchat reasonably restricted Gasper's right to exclude with respect to CSAM within the context of a bailment.

"A bailment is created by delivery of personal property from one person to another to be held temporarily for the benefit of the bailor (the person who delivers personal property . . .), the bailee (the person who receives possession or custody of property . . .), or both, under an express or implied contract." *Toyota Motor Credit Corp. v. N. Shore* Collision, LLC, 2011 WI App 38, ¶ 11, 332 Wis. 2d 201, 796 N.W.2d 832. Stated more simply, "[e]ntrusting your stuff to others is a bailment." Carpenter v. United States, 585 U.S. 296, 399 (2018) (Gorsuch, J., dissenting) (emphasis omitted). "[B]ailment law touches our lives on an almost daily basis." Michael J. O'Connor, Digital Bailments, 22 U. Pa. J. Const. L. 1271, 1307 (2020). "When I lend my drill to a neighbor, park my car in a commercial garage, or check my bag on an airline, bailment law governs the relationship." Id.

One professor has explained that a bailment is created when a user stores files in a cloud storage account with an ESP, just like it would in the context of physical storage:

The owners of the file, like the less[ees] of a storage unit or safe deposit box, retain the right to access their property and may have some control over how secure the property is, but they do not control the infrastructure that makes the storage possible. Decisions about the infrastructure lie with the cloud storage company or the owner of the self-storage site.

Danielle D'Onfro, *The New Bailments*, 97 Wash. L. Rev. 97, 128 (2022); *see also Carpenter*, 585 U.S. at 400 (Gorsuch, J., dissenting) (theorizing that delivering data to a third party creates a bailment). Moreover, "if the cloud storage provider is scanning the files for contraband and touting its security, the best analogy might be to the attended parking lot—which usually does create a bailment relationship." D'Onfro, *supra*, at 128; *see O'Brien v. Isaacs*, 17 Wis. 2d 261, 264, 116 N.W.2d 246 (1962) (stating that a person's use of an attended parking lot created a bailment).

A bailment is governed by "an express or implied contract." *Toyota Motor*, 332 Wis. 2d 201, ¶ 11. "An express agreement will prevail against general principles of law that would apply in the absence of such an agreement." 8 C.J.S. Bailments § 36 & n.7 (2024) (collecting cases). "Absent any

law of bailment that contemplates cloud storage, the law of contract will be its alpha and omega." D'Onfro, *supra*, at 147.

This Court previously considered bailment law in Wisumierski to conclude that the defendant lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in a van. The defendant had been a passenger in the van when a police officer stopped it. Wisumierski, 106 Wis. 2d at 726–27. The defendant planned to drive the van away after the officer arrested the driver, who owned the van. Id. at 726. Before the defendant entered the driver's seat, however, the officer found a gun in the van and arrested the defendant on that basis. Id. The defendant argued that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the van by virtue of his "dominion and control" of the van. Id. at 733. This Court disagreed based on bailment law. While the driver, as bailor, had intended to convey the van to the defendant, as bailee, the defendant never took possession of the van. Id. at 736. As a result, the bailment did not arise. Id. at 736–37. Without the bailment, the defendant lacked "the requisite dominion and control over the van" to establish a reasonable expectation of privacy. Id. at 737; see also State v. Dixon, 177 Wis. 2d 461, 470, 501 N.W.2d 442 (1993) (holding that non-owner driver had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the car because he was a bailee).

By saving, sharing, or uploading files to his Snapchat account, Gasper created a bailment with Snapchat. See Gasper, 414 Wis. 2d 532, ¶ 2. He controlled the files in his account, and Snapchat provided the infrastructure of his account, just like the relationship between an individual and the purveyor of a safety deposit box. See D'Onfro, supra, at 128. Moreover, Gasper allowed Snapchat to secure and scan his account for CSAM, making the relationship akin to the bailment that arises in an attended parking lot. See id.; O'Brien, 17 Wis. 2d at 264.

Because Gasper's use of a Snapchat account constituted a bailment, the court of appeals appropriately looked to the

Page 24 of 49

contract between the parties—as set forth in the Terms of Service—to determine the scope of Gasper's right to exclude and, thus, his reasonable expectation of privacy. The Terms of Service required Gasper to relinquish his right to exclude Snapchat from CSAM and agree to having Snapchat scan for and report CSAM. Stated another way, Snapchat refused to facilitate the storage or transmission of CSAM in its role as bailee. By holding that Gasper lacked an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the CSAM video viewed by law enforcement, the court of appeals merely gave effect to the bailment as defined by the express contract. *See Toyota Motor*, 332 Wis. 2d 201, ¶ 11.

Gasper applies to Rauch Sharak. Rauch Sharak created a bailment with Google by storing files within a Google Photos account. Google's Terms of Service governed the bailment. Just as in *Gasper*, the Terms required Rauch Sharak to relinquish his right to exclude with respect to CSAM and to consent to having his account monitored for CSAM. Google retained the right to remove content that violated its terms or the law, including "child pornography," specifically. (R. 31:59, 67.) Google's Privacy Policy instructed Rauch Sharak that Google would "analyze [his] content to help [Google] detect abuse such as spam, malware, and illegal content." (R. 31:81.) Google's policy on "Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation" provided: "Do not create, upload, or distribute content that exploits or abuses children," which "includes all child sexual abuse materials." (R. 31:72; R-App. 3.) Google stated further: "We will remove such content and take appropriate action, which may include reporting to the [NCMEC]." (R. 31:73; R-App. 4.)

In this light, all six *Bruski* factors weigh against Rauch Sharak. When it came to the CSAM files, Rauch Sharak lacked a property interest, could not exclude, and could not exercise dominion and control. *See Bruski*, 299 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 24 (factors one and three). He accepted that he could not take precautions to exclude Google from his CSAM or put the CSAM to some private use. *See id.* (factors four and five). He could not otherwise legitimately possess CSAM under contemporary or historical notions of privacy. *See id.* (factors two and six); *see also Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 408–09 (2005) ("[A]ny interest in possessing contraband cannot be deemed 'legitimate." (citation omitted)). Thus, Rauch Sharak lacked an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the four CSAM files viewed by the detective.

Rauch Sharak argues that *Gasper* improperly "federalizes" private contracts. (Rauch Sharak's Br. 18–19.) He overlooks *Byrd*. A reasonable expectation of privacy is not "a brooding omnipresence in the sky." *S. Pac. Co. v. Jensen*, 244 U.S. 205, 222 (1917) (Holmes, J., dissenting). It is derived from "a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society." *Byrd*, 584 U.S. at 405 (citation omitted). An ESP's terms directly inform whether an individual's claimed expectation of privacy is rooted in personal property law or societal understandings.

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